Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2019

MELINDA WATSON, Appellant, v. MICHAEL WATSON, Appellee. : **Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Appellant, Melinda Watson, appeals a final order issued by the Second Judicial District Court, which dismissed a protective order issued by the Commissioner. Melinda should prevail because the judge misapplied Civil Rule 108 and she was denied a fair hearing.

ISSUES PRESENTED, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION IN THE RECORD

I. Whether the judge erred in allowing a videotape and new emails to be introduced during the second part of an evidentiary hearing (which occurred thirty days after the first evidentiary hearing), when the evidence was never given to the other party prior to the second hearing, and the offering party had not moved to introduce the

evidence prior to the second hearing. The standard of review for a question of law is de novo. *Hogle v. Zinetics Med., Inc.*, 2002 UT 121, 63 P.3d 80. Melinda preserved this objection by citing to Rule 108 and indicating that these surprise exhibits violated the rule and due process. R. 160-61, R. 556, l. 17-24, R. 557, l. 14-25, R. 558, l. 1-6, R. 564, l. 21-25.

II. Assuming the wrongful evidence is excluded, whether the protective order should be reinstated? The proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and the review is for correctness. *Baird v. Baird*, 2014 UT 2008, 322 P.3d 728, 733. The issue was preserved because the Court considered and ruled on the statutory requirements for stalking. R. 581, 1. 21-25; R. 582, 1. 1-10.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The District Court granted Melinda's petition for an ex-parte protective order on November 15, 2018. After a hearing held on December 5, 2018, before Commissioner Morgan, he entered a detailed, written, recommended ruling and entered the protective order on December 17, 2018. Michael filed an untimely appeal on December 31, 2018. Utah Code § 78B-7-107(f). Preliminarily, the

judge ruled as a policy matter that whether Michael had filed an objection in a timely manner was inconsequential because (to the effect) judges are supposed to try cases. R. 150. The evidentiary hearing proceeded, and Judge Edwards conducted it on two days rather than one due to Michael's lawyer showing up very late on the day of the first hearing. Michael's lawyer had scheduled two matters on the same day and could not arrive at the time appointed by Judge Edwards in this matter. The first day of the evidentiary hearing was held on February 28, 2019. There was only enough time for Melinda to present her evidence. Thirty days later at a second evidentiary hearing held on March 28, 2019, Michael presented his evidence. However, without moving to introduce new evidence, Michael introduced evidence of a videotape, a text, and emails, which had never been presented to the Commissioner, nor ever served on Melinda's counsel. Over Melinda's objection, the undisclosed evidence was the dispositive evidence in the judge's decision to dismiss the protective order. R. 585, l. 21-25; R. 586, l. 1-21.

2. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. TESTIMONIAL EVIDENCE

Melinda was involved in a car accident, was severely injured, suffered traumatic brain injury, wears wrist braces, and has been advised not to lift objects over five pounds. R. 158, l. 11-16; R. 159, l. 21-25, R. 160, l. 1-7. Due to her

injury, Melinda is unable to defend herself by hitting someone back, pushing someone away, or removing someone's arms from her presence. R. 159, l. 18-19; R. 160, 1. 12 - R. 162, 1. 3-8. In a special master's order, he ordered the parties to remain in their residences during transfers, and Michael failed to do so. R. 165, l. 15-23. In fact on one occasion, Michael left his residence, videotaped Melinda, and walked a few feet away from her vehicle. R. 167, l. 16-21. Melinda was frightened. R. 167, l. 24. Michael's body language was menacing. R. 167, l. 24-25; R. 168, l. 1-6. Melinda had the parties' 16-year-old daughter with her in her vehicle. R. 168, l. 14-18. On other occasions during exchanges, Michael would record or photograph Melinda and/or the children. R. 155-56; R. 169, l. 1-6. Michael also blocked the driveway preventing Melinda from leaving repeatedly during exchanges. R. 169, l. 13; R. 191, l. 16-25; R. 192, l. 1-7. Michael also would follow Melinda around a soccer field where she was coaching and photograph her and interrogate her. R. 169, l. 21-25, R. 170, l. 1-2. Other parents at the soccer practice would approach Melinda to check on her safety, and she felt frightened. R. 171, l. 15-20. These stalking episodes would last between 10 - 15 minutes. R. 171, l. 23, Ex. 2. Michael also would attend her ten-year old son's soccer games and approach and record Melinda. R. 172, l. 15-17. Melinda was frightened because Michael would yell at her, record her, and accuse her of

stealing things. R. 173, l. 5-13. Melinda had told Michael to stop stalking her about 6-12 times, but he ignored her requests. R. 174, l. 24-25, R. 175, l. 1-2. Melinda told Michael that his behaviors frightened her. R. 175, l. 9. The divorce decree also contained a restraining order for the parties not to harass each other. R. 176, l. 1-2. Melinda testified that Michael had placed her in fear previously when he slammed his fists on her vehicle's roof. Melinda called the police and presented a police report as evidence to corroborate her statement. R. 178, l. 12-25; R. 179, l. 1-15. Melinda argued that because the police report had been presented to the Commissioner and not objected to, the Court could take judicial notice of it. R. 180, l. 3-9. The judge denied consideration of any police report that had been presented to the Commissioner. R. 1180, l. 18. Michael had also assaulted Melinda by shoving her so forcefully that she fell backwards. R. 182, l. 5-12. Michael had also screamed at her, called her a "fucking bitch," punched objects close to her, screamed at and frightened the parties' teen-aged daughter. R. 184. l. 11-25, p. 54-55. On another occasion when Melinda merely greeted the parties' young son at an event and gave him a hug, Michael called the police and shoved her. R. 157, l. 24-25, R. 188-89, l. 1-8. A police report had been presented to the Commissioner and Melinda used it to cross-examine Michael. However, the Court would not allow the report substantively. At a children's extracurricular

activity Michael approached Melinda in a threatening manner to the point where she hid from him in a closet. R. 190, l. 10-25, R. 191, l. 1-15. A police report was also used in the manner specified. Michael also participated in voyeurism by taking photos of women's butts, photographing Melinda naked (without her consent), and then downloading Melinda's photo to his computer. R. 194, l. 3-25, R. 195-97, R. 198, l. 1-12.

During cross-examination, Melinda was asked why she had not sought a protective order earlier. Melinda testified that she had consulted with a victim's advocate earlier. However, she was not certain as to whether she could have obtained a protective order because she did not have a bruise. R. 206, l. 14-25, p. R. 207, l. 1-2. Michael's attorney hypothesized, over Melinda's counsel's objection as to relevance and Utah R. Evid. 404(b), that Melinda was seeking a protective order in retaliation for sanctions that had been imposed upon her earlier by retired Judge Allphin (when Melinda had been represented by counsel through the Utah State Bar's Modest Means program, who had no prior family law experience). R. 209, 1. 3-13; R. 210-15, 1. 1-5. Melinda filed her request for a protective order approximately two months after Michael had filed his petition to modify the divorce decree. R. 210, 1. 21-25. Melinda testified that she participates in a Tai-Chi class with other women. R. 216, l. 23-25, R. 217, l. 1-2.

Melinda testified that she participated in the jogging portion of her children's Taekwondo class. R. 217, R. 219, l. 22. Both parties did not honor the special master's directive to exchange the children from their residences on occasion. R. 219, 1. 14-19. Melinda testified that she was frightened when Michael videotaped her when he left his residence and approached her vehicle due to Michael's history of domestic violence, because of her vulnerable physical condition, and because he had struck her car violently before. R. 223, l. 22-25; R. 225, l. 19-25; R. 229, l. 17-22; R. 230, 1. 1-10, 17-21. She also testified that Michael became so angry after his military deployment overseas that he would shake with anger, that he was on medication, and that he had been diagnosed with anxiety. R. 224, l. 1-7. Michael's counsel asked Melinda whether Michael had asked Melinda to violate the special master's directive by doing child exchanges at a location other than the parties' residences. R. 231, l. 14-25. She responded that she did so because Michael refused to meet at the parties' residences. R. 231, l. 16. Opposing counsel speculated that Melinda was feigning to look confused during his crossexamination. R. 239, l. 10-11. Melinda testified that the parties' 16-year-old daughter is also frightened of Michael. R. 240, l. 11; p. 110, l. 1. Melinda honked her horn for Michael to answer the door during the exchange at his residence because it was cold outside, and her 16-year-old daughter did not have a coat on.

R. 241, 1. 4-7. She testified that after Michael began videotaping her, her daughter videotaped Michael while as a passenger in Melinda's vehicle. R. 242, 1. 13-14. Melinda testified that Michael's videotaping of her in her vehicle was "creepy as hell." R. 243, 1. 9. Michael was chasing Melinda around the soccer field during his parent-time. R. 245, l. 4-7. Michael was yelling at Melinda and photographing her during the chasing time. R. 245, 1. 24-25. The divorce decree allows the parties to be together at the children's extracurricular activities and to be supportive of them. R. 248, 1. 11-19. Michael is a six-foot man, and Melinda was terrified when he stalked her at the soccer practices because he was yelling at her and recording her while she was trying to coach young girls. R. 248, 1. 22-25, p. 118, l. 1-4. On one occasion with the soccer team, Melinda had to call the police because Michael was following her around and the parents were all staring. R. 249, 1. 7-12. Michael never attended the children's activities unless they were scheduled during his parent-time. R. 249, 1. 21-23. The special master's order required the parties to communicate during exchanges by text or email. R. 253-54. Melinda provided consistent testimony about Michael's blocking of her vehicle. R. 258-59.

During redirect examination, Melinda testified as follows. Melinda's first attorney was hired through the Utah State Bar's modest means program. R. 261, l.

19-25; p. 131. This attorney: (1) admitted to Melinda during the evidentiary hearing before Judge Allphin that he did not know what he was doing; (R. 262, 1. 4-8); (2) despite Melinda relating to her attorney that she was being stalked, he never advised her of her right to obtain a protective order (R. 261, 1. 21-25, p. 131, 1. 1-3); and, (3) told Melinda that he did not realize the hearing before Judge Allphin was an evidentiary hearing (R. 262, 1. 17-18). It was her attorney's first family law case, and family law was not his field of practice. R. 262, l. 25, p. 132, 1. 2-3. Melinda's modest means attorney offered limited evidence during the hearing. R. 263, l. 4. Judge Allphin never made a ruling on the issuance of a protective order. R. 262, l. 9-13. Melinda did not file a protective order because the police "brushed her off" when she asked about, and the victim's advocate advised that without marks on her body, she could lose and inflame the abuser. R. 263, 1. 13-19. The first time Melinda met with Mr. Weckel, he advised her that she had a basis to obtain a protective order. R. 264, l. 21-23. Prior to that she had no idea that she could successfully obtain a protective order. R. 265, l. 1. After Michael's military deployment, he started getting aggressive. R. 265, 1. 20-25. Melinda also testified that she did not petition for a protective order earlier because she was trying to preserve the parties' marriage and had to protect the children when Michael became increasingly violent. R. 267, l. 22-25, R. 268, l. 17. Melinda does not do some of the Tai Chi motions when she attends those classes and wears her hand braces when she participates. R. 268, l. 5-10. Melinda doesn't do about 75% of the Taekwondo workout with her children, does not do punching, and only participated in this activity to be with her children. R. 268, l. 16-25; p. R. 269, l. 1-13.

Michael testified as follow during his direct examination. After Melinda's traumatic brain injury, Michael observed that Melinda could do minor household tasks. R. 308, l. 8-11. In public, Michael has only observed Melinda not wearing her wrist braces a couple of times. R. 309, 1. 8-10. Michael had asked the special master to direct the parties to exchange their children at a police station because Melinda was causing stress to his sister during the exchanges. R. 310, l. 18-20. Melinda argued with a police officer for over an hour that she was able to conduct exchanges at Michael's residence. R. 312, l. 18-20. Melinda emailed Michael and told him that she was going to do the exchanges at his residence and that she would "play his games." R. 313, l. 14-22. Melinda would arrive at Michael's house 10-15 minutes earlier generally for exchanges. R. 317, l. 18. Melinda never left her vehicle to knock on Michael's door for exchanges. R. 318, 1. 5-6. Melinda told Michael not to videotape her. R. 318, l. 13-18. Michael admitted that he videotaped Melinda during the exchange which occurred on October 31

(where Michael left his residence to videotape Melinda in her car). R. 318, l. 22-25. Melinda arrived about 15 minutes early on that occasion, honked her horn, and texted Michael that she was at his residence. R. 319, 1. 18-25. Rather than responding to Melinda's text, Michael ignored them. R. 320, 1. 1-8. Honking of a car horn is against Michael's HOA policy. R. 320, 1. 16-25. Michael had asked Melinda to not honk previously, but she has kept doing it. R. 321, l. 1-4. Michael showed a videotape to the Court which he had taken during the exchange over Melinda's objection (because the evidence had not been presented to the Commissioner, and Melinda had no prior notice of the videotape). The videotape indicated that Melinda was not ringing Michael's doorbell; it was the party's 16year-old daughter while Melinda remained in her car. R. 329, l. 16-23. Rather than answering the door, Michael put a piece of cotton near the doorbell to mute the sound because it had become annoying to him and his young son who was waiting to be picked up. R. 330, l. 1-10. When Michael finally opened the door, his 16-year-old daughter confronted him about videotaping her. R. 334, l. 6-15. Ostensibly due to her annoyance with her father, the 16-year-old daughter flipped her father the bird as she walked away from the door. R. 335, l. 10-11. Michael admitted that his behavior had made his daughter angry. R. 335, 1. 13-14. Michael videotaped Melinda and his daughter because Melinda had parked in a

location which could not be seen by Michael's recording video cameras that he had installed at his residence, and he wanted to record her. R. 338, l. 1-3. Michael left his residence to record Melinda and went up to Melinda's car to video her because he was afraid Melinda might make false allegations about him as she had done in the past. R. 338, l. 10-12. While Michael was videotaping Melinda, she took a photo of him doing that. R. 339, 1. 15-17. Melinda then started videotaping Michael and gave her camera to her daughter to continue as she backed her car out of a neighbor's driveway. R. 339, l. 21-22. Michael admits that he left his residence in violation of the special master's order to videotape Melinda. R. 342. It is impossible to view Melinda's face or body language in Michael's exhibits 2 and 3 (videotape of incident). Michael indicated that Melinda "ran off" with the parties' son during soccer practice during his parent-time. R. 349, l. 3-4. Michael admitted that he brought his phone with him when he went to the soccer practice in case he needed it to protect himself against a false accusation made by Melinda. R. 349, l. 13-18. Michael denied all of Melinda's stalking allegations. R. 350, l. 8-25. Regarding Melinda's photo of Michael at soccer practice, Michael did not intend to threaten Melinda by standing close to her with his camera. R. 352, l. 23-25. Michael was standing close to Melinda because it was 10 minutes after parent-time, and he was supposed to pick up his son. R. 352, l. 16-19. Michael

admitted that Melinda had asked him to stop photographing her and/or videotaping her a couple of times, but she never expressed that she was afraid of him. R. 353, l. 8-21. Initially Michael testified that there was not a restraining order in the divorce decree; then upon further questioning by his lawyer, he admitted that there was a restraint not to harass each other. R. 354, 1. 14-25, R. 359, 1. 1-6. Despite leaving his residence to videotape Melinda during an exchange, Michael testified that he never has done anything that could be construed as harassing her. R. 359, 1. 7-9. Michael denied slamming the roof to Melinda's car. R. 356-57. However, Michael did admit that the police asked him to leave the residence during that incident. R. 357, 1. 23-25. Although not remembering Melinda's allegation regarding pushing her, Michael denied ever laying his hands on her. R. 358, l. 13-25; R. 359, l. 1-7. Michael denied ever shoving one of his daughters into a bannister. R. 361, l. 20-25. Michael admitted that he has a strained relationship with the daughter who Melinda alleges he shoved into a banister (R. 365, 1. 9-18), and that daughter testified against him on behalf of Melinda in the hearing before Judge Allphin. R. 362, 1. 1-6. The daughter also brought up the incident to him. R. 366, 1. 23-25. Michael admits that this incident with his daughter was detrimental to their relationship, but he alleges that she has gotten over it. R. 366, l. 6-9. Michael denied that he had

surveilled Melinda at soccer practices except one time. R. 367, 1. 8-13. Michael testified that he took the video because Melinda was taking their son's clothes with her. R. 367, 1. 15-25. Michael admitted that at the dance festival incident, Melinda gave her son a hug. R. 374, l. 24. Part of the record was the police report regarding the incident that he had provided the Commissioner. Michael then stated that Melinda started to walk off with his son, so he called the police. R. 374, 1. 18. Michael denied ever touching Melinda during the dance incident. R. 374, 1. 20-24. Regarding the Taekwondo incident, Michael admitted that Melinda was authorized to be at the activity. R. 377, l. 22-23. Michael denied making any intimidating gestures toward Melinda while at Taekwondo. R. 378. Michael admitted that he parked in front of his driveway (which blocked Melinda's car). However, he excused this behavior because his garbage can's placement prevented him from parking anywhere else convenient. R. 380, l. 24-25. Michael said he would have been willing to move his car if Melinda had asked him to do so. R. 382, 1. 23-24. Michael denied photographing woman's butts. R. 382, 1. 15-19. He then said he didn't remember doing it. R. 383, 1.7. Michael testified that he could not remember if Melinda had called him about taking a naked photo of her. R. 384, 1. 3. Despite complaining that Melinda had scheduled soccer during his parent-time, he admitted that he attended all of the soccer games and practices

during his parent-time. R. 388, l. 17-25. Based upon a previously undisclosed email (objected to by Melinda), Michael alleged that Melinda would sit close to him during soccer games, with their 16-year-old daughter sitting in between them. R. 389, l. 12-19. Michael's exhibit 4 notified Michael that she was going to sit close to him at a soccer game "for the sake of the kids." R. 392, l. 15-25; R. 393, l. 1-6. Melinda did not appear to be concerned about proximity when she sat close to him at soccer games. R. 393, l. 21-23. Melinda alerted the Court that Civil Rule 108 prohibited the introduction of new evidence unless there had been a substantial change in circumstances. R. 299, l. 21-25; R. 300, l. 1-8, R. 302, l. 15-25; R. 304, l. 1-3. The Court then overruled a specific objection and allowed the new evidence. R. 391, l. 6-25. Melinda did not object to Michael's exhibit 4 because the Court had already stated its basis for allowing his first three exhibits.

Michael testified on cross-examination as follows. Melinda requested that she come to his residence for exchanges because the special master had ordered her to do so. R. 400, l. 6-7. The special master order required that the parties remain in their residences during exchanges. R. 401, l. 9-13. Michael let the doorbell ring for 12-15 minutes during the videotaping exchange on October 31 despite his son asking him if he was going to answer the door. R. 402, l. 2-16. Michael did not know if Melinda had asked her daughter to continuously ring the

doorbell. R. 402, 1. 17-21. Although Michael testified that Melinda was honking her horn incessantly, the video evidence he presented (which Michael admitted that the video picked up the horn honking), indicated that Melinda only honked the horn twice during a 12-15 minute period. R. 402, l. 22-25, R. 403, l. 1-12. Michael testified that he did not know whether Melinda was afraid of him or not as she sat in her car waiting for her son to come to her vehicle during the exchange on October 31. R. 404, 1. 22. Michael admitted that he intentionally did not follow the special master's order to remain in his residence during exchanges. R. 405, 1. 4-10. Michael admitted that he surveilled Melinda with a video camera during this exchange. R. 405, l. 11-15. Michael admitted that his daughter told him not to videotape her during the exchange. R. 405, l. 16-18. Michael admitted that he ignored his daughter's request to stop videotaping her and continued to do so. Tr. R. 406, 1. 20-23. Michael testified that Melinda condones her daughter's behavior without any stated foundation of knowledge. R. 406, l. 24-25, R. 407, l. 1-22. Michael admitted that despite Melinda having the right to be at the Taekwondo class, he immediately called the police on her. R. 411, 1. 20-25. Michael admitted that in the hearing before Judge Allphin Melinda had stated that she was afraid of Michael. R. 412, l. 11-19. Michael admitted that Melinda had emailed him and said that she would sit close to him at their son's soccer games if

he did not videotape her. R. 415, l. 12-25, R. 416, l. 1-6. Michael testified that he couldn't remember if Melinda had asked to sit close to him because of the sake of the children. R. 418, l. 1-6. Michael admitted that Melinda did not enter his residence without permission (where he had been renting), but that the children would let her into the house. R. 418, l. 13-16, 24-25; R. 419, l. 1-6. When confronted with a police report (which had been excluded substantively by the judge) whereby Michael told the investigating officer that he had beat the roof of Melinda's car, Michael would not admit that he told the policeman that. R. 422, l. 18-25, R. 423-434, l. 1-18. Michael didn't know why the police officer did not state in a police report that he had not told the officer that Melinda had taken their son from him at the dance recital despite calling 911. R. 434, l. 19-25, R. 435-48, l. 1-14.

On redirect, Michael testified as follows. He did not answer the doorbell because it was not the precise time for Melinda to pick up their son. R. 450, l. 10-13.

In rebuttal, Melinda testified as follows. Melinda asked to sit next to Michael at the soccer games to reduce conflict in the best interest of the children. R. 450, l. 17-25, R. 455, l. 1-6. Melinda stated in her police reports that she was afraid of Michael. R. 455, l. 18-22. Upon Michael's return from military

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