## Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2019

# Melinda Watson, Petitioner/Appellant, v. Michael Watson, Respondent/Appellee : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Michael proffered exhibits to the court commissioner at a protective order hearing, including 2 short videos (Michael's exhibits 2 and 3). R. 302, ll.4-10; R. 324, ll. 16-20; R. 325, ll. 14-24. Melinda's brief fails to acknowledge that any of Michael's exhibits were proferred to the commissioner. R. 302, ll.4-10. Melinda does not point out where she preserved any specific objection to any of Michael's 4 exhibits under Rule 108. Melinda made an objection for relevance and materiality as to Exhibit 1. R. 314, ll. 9-25. Melinda stipulated to the admission of exhibits 2 and 3. R. 344-345, ll. 9-25; 1-3. Melinda made no objection to the admission of exhibit 4. R. 396, ll. 17-23. Melinda invited error and failed to preserve any objection to the admission of Michael's exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 with respect to Rule 108.

Melinda's brief fails to describe or cite to any of her specific objections to Michael's exhibits. Melinda's brief fails to address Michael's claim and the court's finding that Michael's exhibits had been proffered to the commissioner. Melinda's brief fails to provide any argument for other reasons to exclude Michael's exhibits.

#### ARGUMENT

#### FAILURE OF PRESERVATION

Generally, a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal. See *In re E.R.*, 2001 UT App 66, ¶ 9, 21 P.3d 680. Instead, the party must preserve the issue for appeal by presenting it "to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." *Robertson's Marine, Inc. v. 14 Solutions*, 2010 UT App 9, ¶ 10 (quoting *438 Main St. v, Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51). "This requirement puts the trial judge on notice of the asserted error and allows for correction at that time in the course of the proceeding." Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). Issues that are not properly preserved are usually deemed waived. See *438 Main St. v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51.

See generally *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 14, 128 P.3d 1171: ("[U]nder the doctrine of invited error, we have declined to engage in even plain error review when

'counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the [trial] court that he or she had no objection to the [proceedings].'" (second and third alterations in original)).

A party may challenge an evidentiary ruling on appeal only if the party preserved the challenge at trial by timely objecting to the ruling on the specific ground asserted on appeal. *State v. Clark*, 2016 UT App 120, 376 P.3d 1089, cert. denied 406 P.3d 251.

Defendant could not complain on appeal about introduction of alleged hearsay evidence, where defense counsel, at time evidence was introduced, expressly stated that counsel had no objection. *State v. Dibello*, 780 P.2d 1221 (UT 1989).

Melinda did not object to exhibit 1 with respect to Rule 108. R. 389-90, ll. 6-25, 1-18. Melinda stipulated to the admission of Exhibit 2 and 3. R. 344-345, ll. 9-25; 1-3. Melinda did not object to the admission of Exhibit 4. (R. 396, ll. 17-23) Melinda has no legal grounds on appeal to object to the admission of any of Michael's exhibits based on Rule 108. *State v.Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 14, 128 P.3d 1171.

Melinda has not provided support for any other legal argument to exclude Michael's exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4.

# LACK OF RECORD PRECLUDES FINDING THAT EXHIBITS WERE NOT PROFFERED TO THE COMMISSIONER

The appellant, as the party alleging error, has the duty and responsibility of supporting [her] allegations by an adequate record. *Ajinwo v. Chalesko*, 2018 UT App 39. "Neither the court nor the appellee is required to correct appellant's deficiencies in

providing the relevant portions of the transcript." Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2). When an appellant fails to provide an adequate record for review, appellate courts will presume the regularity of the proceedings below. *State v. Nielsen*, 2011 Ut App 211. The court of Appeals would presume that trial court's findings were supported by competent and sufficient evidence, where entire record was not before the court. *Sampson v. Richins*, 770 P. 2d 998 (UT Ct. App 1989), cert. denied, 776 P.2d 916.

Melinda objected to Michael's exhibits 2 and 3 as being "new evidence" not submitted to the commissioner under Rule 108(c). R. 323-324. Michael stated that the exhibits had been proffered to the commissioner. R. 324, 325 ll. 17-20, 12-24. Melinda's failure to include any record of the commissioner's proceeding is fatal to her claim that the evidence was not submitted to the commissioner. *Sampson v. Richins*, 770 P. 2d 998 (UT Ct. App 1989), cert. denied, 776 P.2d 916. The record indicates that Michael's exhibits were proffered to the commissioner in accordance with Rule 108 (c). R. 302, ll.4-10; R. 324, 325 ll. 17-20, 12-24. Melinda's failure to present the record or any evidence in the record to contradict this prevents this court from finding the trial court's ruling was incorrect with respect to URCP 108.

#### DEFERENCE TO TRIAL COURT ON FINDINGS OF FACT

Factual determinations of the trial court will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous; in making such determination, the appellate court considers evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court. *Mule-Hide Products Co., Inc. v. White*, 2002

UT App 1. Utah R, Civ. P. 52(a). Melinda makes no effort to marshal the evidence to demonstrate the evidence in support of the trial court's ruling, and she does not include the trial court's findings in her addendum.

"Credibility determinations are within the province of the district court judge, who is uniquely equipped to make factual findings based exclusively on oral testimony due to his or her opportunity to view the witnesses firsthand, to assess their demeanor, and to consider their testimonies in the context of the proceedings as a whole." *Meyer v. Aposhian*, 2016 UT App 47. The Court of Appeals may not substitute its judgment for the trial court regarding witness credibility, as trial courts are in a better position to weigh conflicting evidence and evaluate the credibility of witness testimony. *Lunt v. Lance*, 2008 UT App 192.

The trial court had ample evidence to support its findings. Michael testified as to the content of exhibits 2 and 3 apart from the exhibits themselves. R. 327-28, ll. 21-25, 1-8. R. 326, ll. 4-24. Melinda makes no effort to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's ruling. *438 Main St. v, Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72. There is no legal basis for overturning the trial court's ruling, regardless of the admission of Michael's exhibits.

# MELINDA'S BRIEF MAY NOT MEET MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR BRIEFING AND ACCURACY PURSUANT TO Utah R. App. P. 24

Melinda's brief may fail to meet the minimum standards for briefing or accuracy pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24, and to the extent this court may find that to be the case, Michael requests his reasonable attorney fees under Utah R. App. P. 24(h). Melinda misstates the record and the basis for the trial court's findings on numerous occasions. Melinda fails to attach the court's findings of fact in her addendum, as required by URAP 24 (a)(12). Melinda claims evidence was not submitted to the commissioner, and fails to include the record of the hearing before the court commissioner. Melinda fails to make reference to any specific objections she made to Michael's proposed exhibits to demonstrate her preservation for claim of error with respect to Rule 108 URCP. Melinda fails to marshal the evidence to demonstrate the facts which support the trial court's findings.

Critically, Melinda states throughout her brief that "Michael introduced evidence of a videotape, a text, and emails, which had never been presented to the Commissioner . . ." (Appellant's Brief at 3, 11, 21, 24-25, 26, 29, 30, 33). Nowhere in Melinda's Brief or Summary of the Case does Melinda note that the trial court was informed that Michael had proffered "lots of evidence" to the commissioner, including "two videos." (R. 302, ll.4-10). Melinda nowhere advises this court that Michael had indicated to the court that evidence submitted would be kept "within the scope of the request for the protective order." (R. 301, ll. 16-17). But most strikingly, nowhere in her Brief or in the Record on Appeal does Melinda present any attempt to delineate what evidence "whether by proffer, testimony, or exhibit" was presented or not presented to the Commissioner to form the basis of an objection pursuant to Rule 108(c), Utah R. Civ. P. In fact, the record is uncontroverted that Michael did in fact proffer his video evidence to the commissioner to avoid conflict with Rule 108(c):

"Q: And did you proffer the video to Commissioner Morgan at the hearing? A:I did."

(R. 321, ll. 8-10).

Melinda misrepresents the cause for the court scheduling two days of evidentiary hearing. Michael's trial counsel was late for the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of the hearing, on the afternoon of March 28, 2019, after having an issue with another court (R. 295; R. 298, ll. 17-23). The hearing was concluded and the order issued that same day, so this delay did not cause any apparent prejudice to any party, even though they stayed until after 8 pm. (R. 122-125). The hearing was continued to a second date after appellant rested her case in chief after 5 pm on the first hearing date, February 28, 2019. (R. 278, ll.3-18). Inexplicably, Melinda claims that "Judge Edwards conducted [the hearing] on two days rather than one due to Michael's lawyer showing up very late on the day of the first hearing."

(Appellant's Brief at 3).

These seem to be blatant and puzzling misstatements of the record to the court of appeals, and appears to be a violation of Utah R. App. P. 24. Failure to adhere to the requirements of Rule 24 "'increases the costs of litigation for both parties and unduly burdens the judiciary's time and energy.' Failure to adhere to the requirements may invite the court to impose serious consequences, such as disregarding or striking the briefs, or

assessing attorney fees against the offending lawyer." *In re Pahl*, 2007 Ut App 389 ¶ 17 citing *State v. Green*, 2004 UT 76 ¶ 11.

An appeal without legal or factual basis in the record may be grounds for the award of attorney fees. *Porco v. Porco*, 752 P.2d 365 (Utah App., 1988). Utah R. App. P. 40(a).

Michael has been forced to re-cite the record in order to accurately present the facts and record of this case to the Court of Appeals. To the extent that this court believes that Melinda's brief may be deficient, or that it fails to adequately to present any good faith basis for its legal arguments, Michael requests an award of attorney fees, that Melinda's brief be stricken, or such other relief as the court may deem appropriate.

### ATTORNEY FEES FOR FRIVOLOUS APPEAL

Utah R. App. P. 33 provides that "if the court determines that a motion made or appeal taken under these rules is either frivolous or for delay, it shall award just damages, which may include single or double costs, as defined by Rule 34, and / or reasonable attorney fees to the prevailing party." "For the purposes of these rules, a frivolous motion, appeal, or brief . . . is not grounded in fact, [or] not warranted by existing law *Robertson's Marine, Inc. v. 14 Solutions*. . ." Utah R. App. P. 33(b). Attorney fees may be awarded in appeal from divorce decree where appeal is frivolous, regardless of trial court's ruling on fees. *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166 (Utah 1990). Appeal was frivolous and not warranted in law when appellants "were not forthright in their presentation of facts relevant to appealability of issue they sought to raise." *Debry v. Cascade Enterprises*, 935 P.2d 499, rehearing denied (Utah 1997).

In this case, Appellant appeals based on the admission of evidence not proffered to commissioner under Rule 108 (c), when the record indicates the exhibits submitted were actually proffered to the commissioner, R. 302, II.4-10; R. 324, II. 16-20; R. 325, II. 14-24. Appellant did not disclose this in her brief. Appellant did not disclose in her brief that she stipulated to the admission of two of the exhibits, (the only exhibits to which she made a specific objection under rule 108) which she now claims were improperly admitted. R. 344-345, ll. 9-25; 1-3. If the facts of the case were properly presented in appellant's brief, it would be clear under existing law that appellant did not object to any exhibits under Rule 108, the exhibits which were admitted had been proferred to the commissioner in compliance with Rule 108 (c), and the exhibits had been admitted by stipulation. On that set of facts on review of the record, Appellant could present no good faith legal argument for the exclusion of any exhibits under Rule 108. Yet appellant presents a brief which neglects to include any of those facts in the record, fails to include any portions of the transcript relating to her objections in the addendum, and then misrepresents the record of her objections to the appellate court. Under these circumstances Appellee believes an award of attorney fees and costs pursuant to U.R.A.P. 33 is warranted.

#### CONCLUSION

Appellee Michael Watson respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals deny Appellant Melinda Watson's appeal. All exhibits complained of by Appellant were admitted without relevant objection or by stipulation, which was not disclosed to this court in Appellant's brief. If appropriate as requested herein, Michael Watson requests his attorney fees and costs on appeal.